1994

Ivan D. Thompson v. Davis County, Workers Compensation Fund of Utah, and Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Petitioner

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The appeal presents the following issues, written in terms and circumstances of the case but without unnecessary detail.

Issue #1. Whether the ALJ and the Commission applied the correct standard of proof on the issue of medical causation. Did the ALJ and the Commission require that medical causation be proved not by a mere preponderance of the evidence but by certainty?

Applicable standard of appellate review:

This question is reviewable under an abuse of discretion standard, that is, whether the agency has abused the discretion delegated by statute to the agency, §63-46b-16 (4)(h)(i), whether the agency's action is contrary to agency past or current practice, §63-46b-16(4)(h)(iii) and (ii), and whether the agency action is arbitrary and capricious, §63-46b-16(4)(h)(iv).

The Utah Supreme Court has held that if the Legislature has by statute granted discretion to an agency to interpret and apply agency specific statutory law and the agency has developed a certain experience and expertise in doing so, an appellate court owes the agency's determinations a certain amount of deference. But the Industrial Commission's interpretation of the operative

provisions of the Workers Compensation Act must be within the limits of reasonableness and rationality. If the Industrial Commission has misconstrued or misapplied the statute or otherwise exceeded the bounds of reasonableness and rationality, the courts have a duty to correct the error. Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-16(4)(d). See Tasters v. Department of Employment Security, 819 P.2d 361 (Utah App. 1991), Robinson v. Department of Employment Security, 827 P.2d 250, 252 (Utah App. 1992), Stokes v. Board of Review, 832 P.2d 56, 58 (Utah App. 1992), Willardson v. Utah Industrial Comm., 856 P.2d 371, 374 (Utah App. 1993) cert. granted, 870 P.2d 957 (Utah 1994), Walls v. Industrial Commission, 857 P.2d 964, 966 (Utah App. 1993).

Issue #2. Whether the ALJ and Commission committed error in determining that Mr. Thompson's evidence as to connections between the presence of chemicals in the workplace, together with Mr. Thompson's use of such chemicals in performing his work, and Mr. Thompson's seizures, did not satisfy the preponderance of the evidence standard. In other words, did the ALJ and the Commission commit error in holding that Mr. Thompson, in trying to prove the causal connection between the presence of and use by Mr. Thompson of chemical agents in the workplace and Mr. Thompson's seizures (or, in the alternative, between Mr. Thompson's pre-existing brain trauma, combined with his exposure to and use of chemicals in the

workplace, and his seizures), did not satisfy the preponderance of the evidence standard?

Applicable standard of appellate review: same as issue #1 above.

Issue #3. Whether the ALJ and the Commission committed error in denying all benefits (even medical expenses) to Mr. Thompson. In other words, did the ALJ and the Commission commit error in determining that even though the medical panel found that the medical care afforded Mr. Thompson was reasonable and justified, Mr. Thompson should still not receive any workers benefits, even payment of medical expenses?

Applicable standard of appellate review: same as issues #1 and #2 above.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND REGULATIONS

Statutes, rules or cases believed to be determinative include: Utah Code Ann. §35-1-45, §35-1-77 and §35-1-81. (Reproduced in Addendum)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE WITH PAGE REFERENCES TO THE RECORD ("R")

This is an appeal from a final agency decision in a Workers Compensation case. The injured worker lost at the agency and hereby appeals to the Court on the ground the agency abused the discretion delegated to it by the Legislature

The facts material to a consideration of the questions presented are as follows:

In 1993, Mr. Thompson was employed as an animal control officer for Davis County. [R1, R2, R65, R129] His work required him to use various chemical agents such as a Chlorox spray to clean and disinfect animal kennels and cages. [R65,66] Chlorox is a solution containing chlorine, a chemical with known toxic properties. [R166]

On June 1, 1993, Mr. Thompson experienced a grand mal seizure. [R66, R129, R162] He suffered this first seizure during work hours and while at work, immediately after using a Chlorox spray to clean and disinfect animal kennels. [R66, R131]

On July 8, 1993, Mr. Thompson experienced a second grand mal seizure. [R66, R129] He suffered this second seizure during work hours, soon after using a Chlorox spray to clean and disinfect animal kennels. [R66, R131]

Mr. Thompson had a few instances of head trauma in his youth. He was involved in boxing in college which on one occasion resulted in a concussion. [R65] A few years later, he hit his head on the door of a truck. [R65] A year before the seizures he, in the course of his work for Davis County Animal Control, was charged by a bull, hit in the chest and knocked to the ground. [R65] He had never suffered a seizure before his first seizure on June 1, 1993. [R129-132] Subsequent to the second seizure he experienced on July 8, 1993, he has not suffered any other seizures.

Davis County terminated Mr. Thompson's employment on August 11, 1993. [R66]

Mr. Thompson's physicians who treated him for the seizures, Dr. Dennis Peterson and then Dr. Roberta Hallquist, attributed both seizures to Mr. Thompson's previous brain trauma plus his exposure to the chemicals present in Mr. Thompson's workplace and used by Mr. Thompson in his particular work duties. [R68, R131, R137, R153, R154, R164, R180]

The Workers Compensation Fund of Utah required Mr. Thompson to submit to an "independent medical examination". [R17] The physician who performed the IME, Dr. Matsuo, of the University of Utah's Neurology Department, did not visit the workplace or perform any tests regarding the use of chemicals by Mr. Thompson in the workplace and merely talked to Mr. Thompson and reviewed the medical records. The IME concluded his evaluation with cautious uncertainty:

It is my understanding that the agent Chlorox (sodium hydrochlorite) is [an] irritant and overexposure would probably be obvious because of local mucosal irritation and possibly upper respiratory symptoms. It does not appear that Mr. Thompson has suffered either acute or chronic symptoms suggestive of such toxic exposure... I am not sure if we have strong reasons to consider neurotoxicity of sodium hydrochlorite (Chlorox) as explanation for the seizures.

(Emphasis added.) [R68, R166-168]

Due to the difference of medical opinion in this matter, the ALJ, following a hearing, appointed a medical panel to provide a

further opinion on the contested issue of medical causation. [R18-34]

This medical panel also only talked to Mr. Thompson and reviewed Mr. Thompson's medical records. [R37-46] The medical panel did not visit the workplace or perform any tests regarding the Mr. Thompson's exposure to or use of chemicals in the workplace. The medical panel did not survey the literature relating to the use of chlorine cleaning agents in the workplace, or otherwise examine the possible connections between the presence and use of chemicals in the workplace and their effect on humans, as Mr. Thompson had suggested they do. The medical panel concluded various factors contributed to the seizures but thought the previous remote instances of brain trauma were more likely the "culprit" than the exposure to chemicals in the workplace which immediately preceded the seizures:

Our conclusion on this is based on an effort to balance various factors that may reasonably be considered as contributory to the occurrence of isolated grand mal seizures. On the one hand, we have the suggestion that one or more of the chemical substances he was exposed to triggered the seizures. It seems quite unlikely that the exposure to the Chlorox solution reached sufficient levels to cause any impact on his cerebral function since there does not appear to have been any of the observed prodromes of significant respiratory distress which ordinarily accompanied even slight exposures to any Chlorox type spray. There is secondly, a significant delay in the occurrence after the last exposure, during which he was apparently able to function well, suggesting there was no acute involvement.

On the other hand, we have a history of a number of other factors which must be considered. The decreased smell function is most commonly an effect of an injury which ruptures the olfactory fibers coming down through the lamina cribrosa beneath the frontal lobes. Although we do not know of a specific injury, this can occur without loss of consciousness or otherwise affect the person in other than loss of olfactory function, especially early in life. Secondly, there is a history of an abnormal ventricle consistent with an injury back in 1988. There is a localized EEG abnormality recorded, which is not likely the result of a diffuse general toxic agent.

There are additional historic events to consider, including the "concussion" in the boxing match when he was in college, sufficient to require emergency room care, and according to his mother, a period when he missed enough school to delay his education. Secondly is the event when he hit his head on the door frame of the vehicle, which was considered sufficient to secure a CT scan at the time. Lastly, there is the slightly low blood sugar noted on arrival at the doctor's office, but this in itself would not have occurred from exposure to the chemicals under consideration. There is a long-standing evidence of asymmetry of the lateral ventricles.

Thus, it appears to the panel in terms of reasonable medical probability these other multiple evidences of impact on the brain were more likely the causative factor than what would have to be an extremely atypical manner of chemical effect on the brain. [R43-44]

Significantly, the medical panel did not address the issue of the effect of historic brain trauma events and the immediate exposure to toxic agents in the workplace acting together or building upon one another.

The medical panel was giving us their best guess. But it remains a guess.

The ALJ determined that "counsel for the applicant has done a commendable job in providing a thorough analysis as to why this case should be decided in favor of the applicant. However, medical causation is lacking, and the weight of medical opinion is contrary to a finding of medical causation." (Emphasis added.) [R69]

By "weight", the ALJ apparently meant the medical panel report because the two treating physicians believed the exposure to the chemicals in the workplace was clearly the most likely causative agent and the IME was equivocal and uncertain. The ALJ placed much more faith in the medical panel's report than it warranted.

Mr. Thompson filed a lengthy Motion for Review for review by the Industrial Commission. [R73-92] On December 2, 1994, the Industrial Commission affirmed the ALJ's decision in a brief opinion without elaboration or meaningful analysis. [R93-96]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Administrative Law Judge erred in three critical respects relating to burden of proof, and such errors require a reversal of the ALJ's Order. The Industrial Commission did not thoroughly analyze Mr. Thompson's arguments in his Motion for Review and by its decision denying his Motion for Review compounded the ALJ's errors.

DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue #1. The ALJ committed error in requiring certainty in medical causation.

This is a difficult case, factually and legally.

Factually, this case is difficult because the injury is by its very nature, quite mysterious. We are dealing with seizures, which are non-traumatic, totally brain-centered events. There were no eyewitnesses to the seizures other than the person who had the seizures, and that person was not conscious during the seizures and can't tell us a lot about what happened immediately prior to or during the seizures. It is no wonder that identifying the cause or causes of the injury is difficult. Everyone is guessing at what caused the seizures. Several factors, acting cumulatively or in combination, may have caused the seizures. The obvious way to test hypotheses as to causation, namely to replicate the conditions, might seriously injure or kill Mr. Thompson and is thus out of the question.

Legally, this case is difficult because it raises serious questions about the whole concept of causation and the quantum of proof necessary to establish medical causation in cases involving non-traumatic, brain events such as seizures.

A. The ALJ Decision and the Board Affirmance

The Administrative Law Judge determined that the proof Mr. Thompson submitted was simply "insufficient" to establish a medical

connection between Mr. Thompson's work for Davis County Animal Control and his grand mal seizures. [R70]

Mr. Thompson's Motion for Review argued the ALJ had required Mr. Thompson to prove causation in this unique kind of case to a high level of probability or even certainty, thereby applying a too-stringent standard of proof to Mr. Thompson's case. In its decision, the Commission ruled, without any analysis, that "the Commission's review of the ALJ's decision shows that the ALJ applied the correct standard of proof, preponderance of the evidence, to Mr. Thompson's claim." [R94]

This is an incorrect conclusion. The ALJ erroneously assumed that the question of medical causation needed to be answered in absolute terms. This was an incorrect assumption and an abuse of discretion. The law is otherwise. Causation need not be absolute, but may be relative based on natural and reasonable inferences, if the basic facts in the record and common human experience will support such natural and reasonable inferences.

B. Operative Statute, Regulation and Relevant Case Law

Professor Larson, in his treatise, The Law of Workmen's Compensation, §41.32, 41.33(a), recognized this very problem of causation in non-traumatic brain dysfunction cases, and in his work, speaking in the context of occupational diseases, states:

If the employment is attended with unusual germs, poisons, chemicals, fumes, dusts, spores, or similar conditions, the problem of satisfying the distinction [between diseases that are neither accidental nor occupational, but common to mankind and not distinctively associated with employment, and occupational diseases] is not serious. Controverted . . . cases will usually be found to involve, not the definition, but a problem of proof: the question whether these employment conditions in fact produced the disability.

Larson's solution is set forth in § 38.83(e):

Although medical evidence in a particular case may be uncertain or deficient, this will not necessarily bar an award if it is the type of case in which the exertion, taken with other facts, 'raises a natural inference through human experience' of causal contribution.

(Emphasis added.)

This case is the "type of case" in which Mr. Thompson's exposure to known irritants in the workplace immediately prior to his two seizures (which occurred during work hours, and which have never occurred before or after), either alone or together with Mr. Thompson's pre-existing brain condition, does "raise a natural inference through human experience" of a causal connection between his work and his injury.

While something more than a mere logical relationship between the employment and the injury or disease must be shown, Glasrock Home Health Care v. Leiva, 578 So.2d 776 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1991), causation need not be established with absolute certainty. See Jackson v. Greyhound Lines, Inc., 734 S.W.2d 617, 620 (Tenn. 1987):

...[M]edical proof that the injury was caused in the course of the employee's work must not be speculative or so uncertain regarding the cause of the injury that attributing it to the plaintiff's employment would be an arbitrary determination or a mere possibility.... If, however, equivocal medical evidence combined with other evidence supports a finding of causation, such an inference may, nevertheless, be drawn by the trial court under the case law...

(Emphasis added.)

See also Orman v. Williams Sonoma, Inc., 803 S.W.2d 672, 676-77 (Tenn. 1991):

It is entirely appropriate for a trial judge to predicate an award on medical testimony to the effect that a given incident 'could be' the cause of the plaintiff's injury, when he also has before him lay testimony from which it may reasonably be inferred that the incident was in fact the cause of the injury.

Viewing the medical proof ['It seems reasonable that the physicians having greater contact with the Plaintiff would have the advantage and opportunity to provide a more in-depth opinion, if not a more accurate one.'] in combination with the lay testimony ['of the employee and her husband'], we are persuaded that there exists a rational connection between the plaintiff's physical condition and the incident that occurred on September 27, 1985, at the employer's warehouse. We find that the injury arose out of and occurred in the course and scope of the plaintiff's employment. We reiterate the rule that causation need not be established with utmost certainty.

(Emphasis added.)

See also Florida Power Corporation v. Stenholm, 577 So.2d 977, 982-83 (Fla. App. 1st Dist. 1991):

[E]vidence of causation must be shown by something more than it is merely logical that the injury arose out of the claimant's employment, [t]his is not to say that causal relationship requires absolute proof to the exclusion of reasonable inferences.

* * *

[I]n Meehan v. Crowder, the Supreme Court rejected the employer/carrier's contention that causation in that case was based on conjecture, noting that: '[c]onjecture may be said to be supposition without a premise of fact.' [I]n Meehan, the Supreme Court found that the compensation award rested upon an inference of liability which was sustained by the premise of facts to be found, i.e., that the claimant was well immediately preceding the [exposure] and was sick soon after. The court concluded that '[t]he evidence show[ed] a natural sequence of events based on facts from which liability can be inferred.' Id.

Similarly, in Lake v. Irwin Yacht and Marine, the claimant's condition of bronchitis was found to be compensable even though the medical test did not establish the cause of the bronchitis. Rather, causal connection between [the bronchitis] and the employment was found to be shown by the medical testimony to the effect that the claimant's chemical exposure was the most likely cause of the bronchitis based on the claimant's history and the fact that she completely recovered after permanently leaving the employ of Irwin Yacht.

* * *

[T]his court in Wiley held that the reasonable inference of liability therein was supported by the premise of facts to be found, i.e., that the claimant was free of pulmonary difficulties prior to her exposure.... Additionally, her condition improved when she worked for other employers and worsened after she returned to the [former employer's] work environment. Thus, the claimant was exposed to a product which was capable of producing the type of illness which she subsequently developed and the record indicated the existence of 'a natural sequence of events' based on facts from which liability can be inferred.'

(Emphasis added.)

In the instant case, the evidence showed a natural sequence of events based on facts from which liability should have been inferred. The ALJ should have let the natural and reasonable

inferences from the basic facts lead him to a more correct decision.

The case of Peck v. Procter & Gamble, 586 So.2d 714, 717 (La. App. 1991), is similar to the instant case in several respects. In Peck, the plaintiff/employee had several nonwork factors present (such as smoking). He also worked in a setting where he had direct contact with detergents on a daily basis and, at various times during his employment, he was exposed to enzymes used in making some of the detergents. The plaintiff developed respiratory problems and even on one occasion fainted. Plaintiff's physician initially opined that plaintiff had restrictive pulmonary disease which could well be related to his long standing history of dust exposure. After further examination, plaintiff's physician then attributed the pulmonary problems to the fact that he was a chronic smoker. The Defendant's physician evaluated the worker's medical history, examined the worker once and opined that the worker's respiratory problems were most probably caused by his being overweight and his chronic smoking habit. Another physician, at defendant's request, also evaluated the worker's medical history and he too related the worker's condition to his smoking.

The trial court found that the plaintiff had proven by a preponderance of the evidence that there was a causal relationship between his employment and the condition.

The defendant attacked the trial court's decision on grounds of inadequate proof of causation, but the appellate court affirmed:

The trial court was clearly impressed with plaintiff's testimony regarding the nature of his condition and with the testimony indicating that plaintiff's health improved when he was no longer around the enzyme dust.

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