1994

Ivan D. Thompson v. Davis County, Workers Compensation Fund of Utah, and Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The ALJ used the correct standard of proof to determine whether the Applicant's seizures were triggered by his use of a Clorox cleaning solution while employed by Davis County. The ALJ's order and the record as a whole indicate that the ALJ applied the preponderance of evidence standard to determine medical causation. There is nothing in the ALJ's order which suggests the ALJ required medical causation be proven by "certainty."

The Commission's decision to deny workers' compensation benefits is supported by substantial evidence. The Applicant has failed to marshal the evidence supporting the Commission's finding of no medical causation, and show that despite the supporting facts the Commission's decision is not supported by substantial evidence.

Finally, the Commission correctly denied workers' compensation benefits in the form of medical expenses even though the medical panel commented that the medical expenses were reasonable. The Commission has no authority to grant workers' compensation benefits once it determines there is no compensable injury.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COMMISSION'S CONCLUSION THAT THE APPLICANT'S SEIZURES WERE NOT WORK RELATED WAS BASED ON THE CORRECT STANDARD OF PROOF - THE PREPONDERANCE OF EVIDENCE.

The Applicant must prove by the preponderance of evidence that his seizures were caused by the exposure to a Clorox cleaning solution in the workplace. See, Lipman v. Indus. Comm'n., 592 P.2d 616 (Utah 1979) (the standard of proof to prove compensability is a preponderance of evidence). The preponderance of evidence standard requires the court to balance the evidence, using its discretion to weigh its importance and credibility, and decide whether it is more likely than not that the evidence supports the claimant's position. See, generally, State v. Hodges, 798 P.2d 270 (Utah App. 1990). The ALJ used the preponderance of evidence standard to deny workers' compensation benefits to the Applicant.

To determine whether the correct standard of proof was used, a reviewing court considers both the record and the ALJ's order as a whole. Willardson v. Indus. Comm'n., 856 P.2d 371,

376 (Utah App. 1993) (ALJ's use of the word "significant" was unintended surplusage and did not support the allegation that the wrong standard of proof was used to show medical causation). In the instant case, the ALJ, after stating his findings of fact, concluded "[u]nder such circumstances, *it has not been shown to a preponderance* that the seizures were medically caused by the work at Davis County" (R.70, emphasis added.) The ALJ's conclusions of law stated "[t]here is insufficient evidence to show that [the Applicant's] grand mal seizures which occurred on June 1, 1993 and July 8, 1993 arose out of and in the course of exposure to Clorox" (R.70.)

A review of the ALJ's order as a whole indicates the ALJ considered all the evidence presented by the Applicant. The ALJ's findings of fact listed the conclusion of the Applicant's physician, the independent **medical evaluation**, and the medical panel's conclusions. The ALJ's exercised his discretion to **give more weight** to the findings of the medical panel (which included a physician who specialized in toxicology) and the independent medical evaluation, and less weight to the Applicant's own physician. The ALJ also listed seven factors unrelated to work which were likely causative factors. (R.69-70.) The ALJ determined that "it was *unlikely* that the exposure to the Clorox cleaning solution was sufficient to cause any impact on the Applicant's cerebral functions." (R.69, emphasis added.) The ALJ's order as a whole demonstrates that the ALJ determined medical causation using the preponderance of evidence standard. Based on a review of the ALJ's decision, the Commission also determined that the correct standard of proof was applied.

The Applicant asserts that the ALJ required medical causation be proven by certainty. The Applicant points to no language in the order, other than the ALJ's conclusion that there was

"insufficient" evidence to support medical causation, to support this allegation. (Petitioner's Brief, p.13.) There is nothing in the ALJ's order which supports the Applicant's allegation that "[t]he ALJ erroneously assumed that the question of medical causation needed to be answered in absolute terms." (Petitioner's Brief, p. 14.)

In conclusion, the ALJ applied the preponderance of the evidence standard to determine medical causation. The ALJ considered the evidence presented by the Applicant, but placed greater weight on the findings of the medical panel that the Applicant's seizures were not triggered by exposure to a Clorox cleaning solution at work. The ALJ did not require medical causation be proven with certainty.

II. THE ALJ'S CONCLUSION THAT THE APPLICANT FAILED TO SHOW HIS EXPOSURE TO CLOROX CAUSED HIS SEIZURES IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

A. The Applicant Failed to Show That The ALJ's Finding Of No Medical Causation Is Against the Clear Weight of Evidence.

Medical causation is a question of fact; questions of fact should be affirmed if they are supported by "substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court."

Virgin v. Bd. of Review of the Indus. Comm'n., 803 P.2d 1284, 1287 (Utah App. 1990).

To challenge a findings of fact, a claimant is required to marshal "all of the evidence supporting the findings, then show that despite the supporting facts, and in light of the conflicting or contradictory evidence, the findings are not supported by substantial evidence." King v. Indus. Comm'n., 850 P.2d 1281, 1285 (Utah App. 1993). Smallwood v. Bd. of Review of the Indus. Comm'n., 841 P.2d 716, 718-19 (Utah App. 1992) (the claimant must marshal the evidence in support of the finding and then show the challenged finding is so lacking in support as to be

against the clear weight of evidence, making it clearly erroneous).

The Applicant has failed to marshal the evidence supporting the finding that his use of a Clorox cleaning solution did not cause or contribute to his seizures. The Applicant has not shown that despite the conclusions of the medical panel that it was "quite unlikely" that the use of the Clorox could trigger his seizures, the ALJ's finding was not supported by substantial evidence. The Applicant fails to draw attention to any flaw in the evidence upon which the ALJ relied. See, Stewart v. Bd. of Review of the Indus. Comm'n., 831 P.2d 134, 138 (Utah App. 1992). The Applicant has not shown that the finding of no medical causation is against the clear weight of evidence.

The Applicant has not met the procedural requirements for review by not marshalling the evidence, and showing that in spite of this evidence, the ALJ's findings were not supported by substantial evidence. Therefore, ALJ's and the Commission's denial of workers' compensation benefits to the Applicant should be affirmed.

B. The Applicant Failed To Establish That His Seizure Was Both Legally And Medically Caused By His Exposure to Clorox.

The Applicant must establish by the preponderance of evidence that his exposure to Clorox caused his seizures, or contributed to the cause of his seizures. In Allen v. Indus. Comm'n., 729 P.2d 15, 25 (Utah 1986), the court outlined the two-part test to determine causation in workers' compensation cases. To establish legal causation, a claimant must show legal causation and medical causation to recover workers' compensation benefits. Id. A claimant with pre-existing conditions "must show that the employment contributed something substantial to increase the risk he already faced in everyday life." Id. To show increased risk, a claimant

must show an "unusual or extraordinary exertion" to prove legal causation. Id. at 26.

The Applicant used a Clorox cleaning solution a few minutes a day. The Clorox was the type sold in grocery stores for consumer use. In addition, the Clorox cleaning solution used was a mixture of thirty parts water and one part Clorox. This exposure or "exertion" hardly seems unusual or extraordinary. The Applicant provides no evidence which demonstrates that this exposure is substantially different than any regular use of household cleaners.

Even if there is legal causation, a claimant still must establish medical causation, the second part of the Allen test. A claimant must show, by a preponderance of evidence that there is a "medically demonstrable causal link between the work-related exertions and the unexpected injuries that resulted from those strains." Id. at 27.

The Applicant's evidence regarding medical causation consists of conclusory statements by his two treating physicians that his seizures were caused by his exposure to chemicals. There is no evidence that these physicians evaluated the acute and chronic toxicity characteristics of the active chemical in Clorox (sodium hypochlorite). (In fact, Dr. Hallquist stated that the Applicant exposure was to chlorine. (R.178.) Dr Peterson seemingly repeated this conclusion with no independent evaluation of his own. (R.180.)) This was the only evidence the Applicant presented on medical causation.

In contrast, both the independent medical evaluation ("the IME") and the medical panel evaluated the toxicity characteristics of sodium hypochlorite to determine if exposure to the Clorox cleaning solution could have triggered the Applicant's seizure. The medical panel concluded there was no medical causation stating:

Our conclusion on this is based on an effort to balance various factors that may reasonably

be considered as contributory to the occurrence of isolated grand mal seizures. On the one hand, we have the suggestion that one of more of the chemical substances [the Applicant] was exposed to triggered these seizures. *It seems quite unlikely that the exposure to the Clorox solution reached sufficient levels to cause any impact on his cerebral function* since there does not appear to have been any of the observed prodromes [sic] of significant respiratory distress which ordinarily accompanied even slight exposures to any Clorox type spray. There is secondly, a significant delay in the occurrence after the last exposure, during which he was apparently able to function well, suggesting there was no acute involvement. Likewise, *it is not reasonable that without major noticeable respiratory distress, that there would be any continuing effects of the Clorox type exposure on an accumulative basis.* The other two, the detergent and the Parvosol, are not of the nature which are likely to produce a convulsive seizure, especially where there was no indication of effect at the time of exposure. (R.43, emphasis added.)

The Applicant argues that the ALJ, the IME and "especially the medical panel" failed to consider whether the Applicant's exposure to Clorox could have contributed to his seizures considering his previous head injuries. The medical panel's reports indicates that the panel did in fact consider and balance all the factors which could have contributed to the Applicant's seizure. There is nothing in the medical panel's report which supports the Applicant's assertion that the panel "approached this case in an either/or, all or nothing, manner." (Petitioner's Brief, p.26.)

To summarize, the Applicant failed to establish by the preponderance of evidence that his work exposure to the Clorox cleaning solution caused or contributed to his seizures. The medical panel considered all contributing factors which could have triggered the Applicant's seizures. Based on the toxicity characteristics of sodium hypochlorite (the active ingredient in Clorox), the medical panel concluded it was "quite unlikely" that the Applicant's use of the Clorox cleaning solution could have triggered his seizures. Accordingly, the ALJ adopted the medical panels findings.

C. The ALJ's Finding Of No Medical Causation Is Supported By Substantial Evidence.

The ALJ's conclusion that the Applicant has failed to establish medical causation is supported by substantial evidence. Substantial evidence is "that which a reasonable person might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." King v. Indus. Comm'n., 850 P.2d 1281, 1285 (Utah App. 1993) (citations omitted). A substantial evidence review "simply accords deference to the agency where two reasonable, yet conflicting conclusions could have been reached." Id.

The evidence supporting the ALJ's conclusion included the findings of both the IME and the medical panel that the Applicant's use of the Clorox cleaning solution was insufficient to trigger the Applicant's seizures. This decision was based on the acute and chronic toxicity characteristics of the active chemical in Clorox (sodium hypochlorite) and the conditions under which the Applicant used the Clorox cleaning solution. The ALJ's decision was also based on non-work related factors which could have caused the seizures. These factors included a prior history of head injuries, the Applicant's anosmia, an EEG abnormality, low blood sugar during one of his seizures, and long standing evidence of asymmetry of the lateral ventricles of the brain. (R.69-70.)

The findings by the ALJ and the Commission are supported by substantial evidence. Therefore, the Commission's decision to deny workers' compensation benefits to the Applicant should be affirmed.

III. THE APPLICANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO PAYMENT OF MEDICAL EXPENSES BECAUSE THERE WAS NO COMPENSABLE INJURY.

The ALJ correctly denied the payment of the Applicant's medical expenses because there was no compensable injury. Section 35-1-45 of the Utah Code provides that an employee who is

injured by an "accident arising out of and in the course of his employment . . . shall be paid compensation for loss sustained on account of the injury The responsibility of compensation and payment of medical, nursing, and hospital services and medicines . . . shall be on the employer and its insurance carrier" Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-45 (1994). Employers and their insurance carrier are not responsible for medical expenses unless there is a compensable injury. As the ALJ and Commission determined there was no compensable injury, workers' compensation benefits in the form of medical expenses are not the responsibility of Davis County nor the Workers Compensation Fund of Utah.

The Applicant argues that because the medical panel stated that the medical care the Applicant received was justified, the ALJ should have required the Workers Compensation Fund of Utah to pay medical expenses. This argument is without merit for several reasons.

Section 35-1-77 of the Utah Code Annotated gives the Commission discretion in adopting the findings of the medical panel if there is other substantial evidence in the case supporting a contrary finding. Where there is statutory discretion given to an agency, the appropriate standard of review is the abuse of discretion. King v. Indus. Comm'n., 850 P.2d 1281, 1286 (Utah App. 1993). The ALJ properly exercised his discretion not to grant medical expenses even though the medical panel stated that the medical care was justified. The "substantial evidence" requirement in section 35-1-77 was met by the medical panel's finding that the Applicant's seizures were not work related. Workers' compensation benefits, including medical expenses, are granted only when there is a compensable injury. The Commission does not have the discretion to grant workers' compensation benefits unless it determines the Applicant's condition was both legally and medically caused by an industrial injury.

In addition, the Commission is the ultimate fact finder in workers' compensation cases. Virgin v. Bd. of Review of the Indus. Comm'n., 803 P.2d 1284, 1289 (Utah App. 1990). In Virgin, the claimant argued that because the medical panel stated that his industrial injury aggravated a pre-existing condition, he was entitled to workers' compensation benefits even though the medical panel was unable to clearly assign any degree of impairment to his industrial accident. Id. at 1287. In upholding the Commission's denial of benefits, the court stated that "the Commission will not be reversed simply because it has chosen to rely on one portion of the medical panel report and to reject other inconsistent portions." Id. at 1289-90.


In the instant case, the ALJ and the Commission relied on the medical panel's findings of no medical causation to conclude there was insufficient evidence to show that the Applicant's seizures arose out of and in the course of the use of Clorox and other chemicals while employed by Davis County. Thus, the Commission appropriately denied workers' compensation benefits because there was no compensable injury.

CONCLUSION

The Commission correctly required the Applicant to prove his seizures were the result of his use of a Clorox cleaning solution by the preponderance of evidence. The Commission decision to deny workers' compensation benefits to the Applicant is supported by substantial

evidence. Therefore, the Workers Compensation Fund of Utah requests this court affirm the Commission's denial of workers' compensation benefits to the Applicant.